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“If at first you don’t succeed, try, try again. Then quit.
No use being a damn fool about it.”


W. C. Fields




Introduction


In 1682, the French explorer Robert Cavalier La Salle travelled the length of the Mississippi almost entirely by foot all the way to the Gulf of Mexico; he then returned to France a hero, claiming the entire valley for King Louis XIV.


La Salle’s discovery was a fluke he couldn’t repeat. Two years later, he sailed from France with 280 men, women and children, plus 200 soldiers and sailors, having promised the king that he would establish a colony that would rival the New World riches of Spain. Only this time, when he went back to find the Mississippi, he landed by mistake on the Texas coast – 500 miles west of his intended destination. He and his party tramped thousands of miles on foot looking for the river, hopelessly lost, meanwhile dying of thirst and attacks by marauding Indians.


La Salle eventually found his way back to his ship, then sailed for Canada, only to get lost again, this time finding himself back in the Gulf of Mexico, then ran his ship aground on a sandbar. He tried to find the Mississippi again on foot but, by this time, his crew – down to 36 from the original 480 – had had enough. They terminated La Salle’s career as an explorer with a bullet to his head, stripped him of his clothing and left him to die where he fell, somewhere in Texas.


History may be written by the winners, but if you manage to lose in a spectacular or consistent fashion, there’s a good chance you will be remembered, too. Without losers, we wouldn’t have winners. The conquest of Everest wouldn’t have been glorious if someone had skipped to the summit at the first attempt; it was the horribly failed expeditions that came before it that made it special. Many must seek the goal and blow it before the achievement can be called truly heroic.


When it comes down to it, we aren’t even too fussed about the actual winning; the important thing is to go down fighting. So the death of Captain Scott, who lost not only the race to the South Pole but also failed to get himself and his team back alive, becomes a brave battle of the underdog against the odds. Why do it efficiently and take huskies like Roald Amundsen did when you can take ponies who will drop dead before you do? The important thing is that, in losing, Scott captured the public imagination. As Jonathan Miller’s squadron leader character put it in Beyond the Fringe: “I want you to lay down your life, Perkins . . . we need a futile gesture at this stage. It will raise the whole tone of the war.”


This book is about those who came close to the pinnacle of their chosen field without quite getting there. The very best, if you will, of the not very good. They are writers who believed in the power of words but spent their entire careers unable to find the right ones; artists and performers who indulged their creative impulse with a passion, if not a sense of the ridiculous, an eye for perspective or the ability to hold down a tune; people who set benchmarks for greatness then failed to follow up; experts who got it spectacularly wrong (take a bow, Lord Kelvin); scientists who had flashes of brilliance only to have them marooned in a vast sea of mediocrity, and others who got painfully close or were just robbed; businessmen who never quite knew when to quit while they were ahead; sportsmen who came close to winning, only for victory to be cruelly snatched away, winning the hearts of the nation along the way for trying very hard, despite being a bit crap.


In these pages, you will find some of history’s most spectacularly ill-conceived endeavours and gloriously useless pursuits, tales of black comedy, insane foolhardiness, extraordinary bravery, breathtaking stupidity, dashing incompetence and relentless perseverance in the face of inevitable defeat. These are the efforts of those who fell short of their goal, the tragically defunct whose lives ended up on the cutting-room floor, forever assigned a second-tier rating in the chronicles of human achievement. We celebrate the men and women who were made of The Wrong Stuff – we salute you for trying.




1


How the West Was Lost: Misadventures in Exploration


In which some explorers get lost; a man eats his boots and another man eats his crew; an imaginary mountain range is mapped; and a Scottish botanist is crushed to death by a falling bullock.



Worst Attempt to Make a Name as a Great Explorer


Timbuktu. For the early nineteenth-century explorer, there was no greater prize. Its location was the most tantalizing geographical riddle of the era. According to legend, the fabled ‘lost city’, hidden somewhere in Africa’s vast uncharted interior, was the seat of great power and learning, home to fabulous palaces and great libraries on which even the roof tiles were made of gold.


Getting there would take a brutal 2,000-mile journey through some of the most hostile territory on Earth. Many had tried and failed. Whoever got there first was guaranteed international fame and a place among history’s greatest explorers; at least, so everyone thought. In the event, the man who achieved it was a Scot whose name almost nobody remembers.


Europeans had been vaguely aware of the existence of Timbuktu for hundreds of years but no white man had actually set eyes on it since the Middle Ages. In 1809, an English merchant with a very vivid imagination called James Jackson published a book titled An Accurate and Interesting Account of Timbuktu, the Great Emporium of Central Africa. It made extraordinary claims, not only of great wealth but described a city crawling with beautiful, available women. He wrote:


The climate of Timbuktu is much extolled as being salutary and extremely invigorating, insomuch that it is impossible for the sexes to exist without intermarriage . . . accordingly it is said that there is no man of the age of eighteen who has not his wives or concubines . . . it is even a disgrace for a man who has reached the age of puberty to be unmarried!


As it turns out, Jackson’s account was so far from the truth that he was possibly suffering from sunstroke when he wrote it, but no one seems to have questioned it at the time and his book became a bestseller, reprinted ten times. Timbuktu was now the dream destination of every red-blooded adventurer.


The great Venetian Egyptologist Giovanni Belzoni was among the first to have a go at finding it, setting off for the African interior from Benin in 1823 in typically flamboyant fashion: “God bless you, my fine fellows, and send you a happy sight of your country and friends!” Having covered only ten miles, Belzoni died of dysentery.


In 1824, the French Geographical Society raised the stakes by offering a generous prize of 10,000 francs for the first person to bring back information about Timbuktu. The race was now on in earnest. The British, of course, were determined to get their man there first. In fact, she had long had her eye on Timbuktu, ever since 1788 when the Association for Promoting the Discovery of the Interior Parts of Africa was founded in London. The African Association, as it was more commonly known, comprised a dozen titled gentlemen from London’s upper crust led by the famous botanist and explorer Sir Joseph Banks. Ostensibly, their sole aim was to advance scientific knowledge about the “dark continent”. It was a great failing of the so-called Age of Enlightenment, Banks grumbled, that Europeans had sailed all around the world but knew next to nothing about the interior of Africa. And if they just happened to find some gold along the way, all well and good.


Each of the members of the African Association pitched in with five guineas a year to recruit and fund expeditions to Africa. The first explorer they selected to lead an expedition to Timbuktu was an American – John Ledyard. He must have given a good interview because he had never been to Africa and didn’t know a single word of Arabic, but his lack of qualifications for this particular trip was apparently outweighed by his “adventurous nature . . . the manliness of his person, the breadth of his chest, the inquietude of his eye”. They might have had second thoughts after the Association’s Secretary Henry Beauvoir gave Ledyard the good news and asked when he might be ready to travel. Ledyard, showing admirable spirit, if not a complete grasp of what he was getting himself into, replied, “Tomorrow morning”. Beauvoir patiently informed him that a little more time would be needed to write up his itinerary.


Ledyard left England on 30 June 1788. Six weeks later, he arrived in Cairo, which is the nearest he ever got to Timbuktu. The African Association was dismayed to learn that, while attempting to self-medicate for a “bilious complaint”, Ledyard had died vomiting blood after inadvertently swallowing a fatal overdose of sulphuric acid.


The next to go, an Irishman called Daniel Houghton, got off to a decent start, reaching The Gambia in 1791. There, a fire destroyed most of his supplies and a servant ran off with most of what was left. Then he had a spot of better luck when he was assured by a guide that Timbuktu was just down the road; a man could safely walk there with a stick. Five hundred miles short of his target, Houghton’s stick and everything else he had were stolen by bandits, who also beat him up and left him to die.


The legendary Scot Mungo Park tried twice. On his first attempt in 1795, he was robbed, imprisoned and tortured, then gave up and returned home. On this occasion, he set had off with just two companions and returned alone. On his second attempt in 1803, he set off with 46 men to find Timbuktu; not one of them survived. Park himself was drowned.


In 1817, Britain had another go with an expedition led by a 29-year-old Joseph Ritchie, of whom very little is known except that he was a surgeon and a friend of the poet John Keats1. More importantly, he had time on his hands and connections in the Colonial Office, under whose auspices these expeditions now fell (the Government had decided that African exploration was too important to leave to the likes of Joseph Banks, who by now was old and quite ill).


Ritchie was either too timid or too stupid to point out that the £2,000 allocated to him to fund the entire expedition was pitifully inadequate. It didn’t help either that he had blown all but £75 of the money before he even got to Africa, mostly on useless items. Richie did, however, take the trouble to have himself circumcised, just in case he needed to pass himself off under close inspection as an Arab.


With nothing left to trade with the locals for food apart from firearms and horses, the loss of either of which would have been suicidal, Richie’s party went without food for several weeks. Ritchie, so emaciated he could barely walk, looked in the mirror and noticed that his tongue had turned black, but put it down to the fact that he had been drinking black coffee. He was dead within the week.


His starving companions opened a stack of boxes marked “DO NOT OPEN UNTIL TIMBUKTU”, hoping to find something useful to sell and found two large chests full of arsenic, one camel-load of corks for pinning insects, two loads of brown paper, hundreds of books and 600 lbs of lead. No one has yet quite figured out what the last item was for.


In 1824, Britain decided to try again. This time it fell to the Secretary of State for Colonial Affairs, Lord Henry Bathurst, to find the right man for the job. Bathurst had cultivated some rather odd ideas about how to get to Timbuktu. Nobody actually knew exactly where it was, but the obvious, shortest, most direct and therefore most sensible route into the African interior was to approach it from the west African coast, from where Timbuktu was thought to lie about 500 miles inland.


Bathurst, however, thought you should start from the north. To do that, you had to cross the Sahara, a total distance of about 3,000 miles across some of the most savage terrain in the world. His plan was simple: you would sail to the North African port of Tripoli, hire some camels, then head south across the Sahara, hopping from oasis to oasis, until you got to Timbuktu. He made it sound as easy as a weekend hike for a Duke of Edinburgh’s Award.


Experience suggested otherwise. Africa in general and the road to Timbuktu in particular had already established itself as a graveyard for young explorers. The Sahara was one of the most dangerous places on the planet. So you would think that someone would have to be mad, figuratively speaking, to volunteer. Fortunately, Bathurst found someone who was – figuratively and literally.


Alexander Gordon Laing was the son of a Scottish schoolteacher. He joined the Army and was posted to the West Indies, but was forced to return home because of problems with his liver. By 1822, he was serving in the Royal African Colonial Corps in Sierra Leone; he had just turned thirty, and was tall, slim and handsome with wavy hair and luxuriant mutton-chop sideburns. He made a bit of a name for himself in Africa, but not for the right reasons. His fellow officers found him smug and insufferably arrogant. He fancied himself as a poet and had a stint as editor of the local English newspaper, whose pages he liked to fill with doggerel, mostly about himself. As for Laing’s army record, his commanding officer wrote, “His military exploits are even worse than his poetry.”


Laing, however, was very full of himself and driven by ambition to make his name in Africa, no matter what. He had read adventure tales as a boy and was determined, he later wrote, “to signalize myself by some important discovery”. Like most would-be African explorers, he also had his own theory about that other Holy Grail of nineteenth-century exploration, the River Niger, which he had recently published and sent to the Colonial Office.


When Laing found out that Britain wanted to beat the French to Timbuktu, he quickly offered his services. This was his ticket to glory. Not that Laing was particularly well qualified to lead an expedition to Africa or anywhere else. To start with, his general health was described as “delicate”. His grasp of African geography was also very hazy and he was quite sure that the Niger flowed into the Gulf of Benin – which it definitely didn’t. But Laing was not short of self-confidence and he impressed Bathurst with “his command of the facts, the acuity of his intellect, his courage, and his poise”. More to the point, he was also extraordinarily cheap. He offered to find Timbuktu without taking any salary at all from the Colonial Office and with a proposed outlay of only £640 10s. for expedition set-up costs and annual expenses of £173 7s. 6d. His proposal was accepted on the nail.


Laing, who was quite annoyed by the fact that his big idea regarding the course of the Niger had been dismissed as nonsense by the Colonial Office, was now extremely full of himself. He bragged that if he didn’t find Timbuktu, no one ever would: “The world will forever remain in ignorance of the place, as I make no vainglorious assertion when I say that it will never be visited by Christian man after me.” And he wasn’t just going to stop there. After locating Timbuktu, he was going to press on and solve the puzzle of the Niger. “I am so wrapt in the success of this enterprise,” he wrote, “that I think of nothing else all day and dream of nothing else all night.”


In April 1825, Laing set off for Africa on his cut-price expedition via Malta, where he promptly fell ill again and was bedridden for a month. Eventually, he found his way to Tripoli, where his arrival was awaited by the British Consul Hanmer Warrington, whose job it was to expedite Laing’s trip to the African interior. The aristocratic, hard-drinking Warrington was a big man with a forceful personality to match. He had held the position of Consul for eleven years and, during that time, he had seen many young men set off to try to unlock the mysteries of Africa’s interior. Most of them never came back.


His initial impression of Laing was favourable; he was, Warrington reported to Bathurst, a “well set-up man . . . highly gifted in many ways”. When he got to know Laing a little better, he became sceptical, to say the least, about the young Scot’s chances of success. To begin with, Laing was obviously still not fully recovered from his recent illness. “The state of his health,” Warrington warned the Colonial Office, “will not carry him though his arduous task.” When he heard about the ludicrously small budget with which Laing proposed to fund the expedition, he concluded that he must be stark raving mad.


The relationship took an unexpected turn for the worse when Laing promptly fell in love with the second of Warrington’s three daughters, Emma. Within a matter of weeks, Laing was down on one knee with a proposal of marriage. Warrington, who was not keen to have a madman as a son-in-law, far less one who was about to set off on a suicide mission, was horrified, especially when the couple announced their intention to tie the knot straight away. He was even more horrified when it dawned on him that, as British Consul, he was the only senior representative of the Church of England in Tripoli and would be expected to perform the marriage service himself.


Warrington did everything he could to put them off and only relented when his daughter tried to kill herself by poisoning. After some furtive and increasingly frenzied correspondence with London while he searched for a loophole, Warrington reluctantly agreed to officiate, on one condition – Laing had to sign an agreement that the marriage would not be consummated until it had been blessed by an Anglican priest. In other words, not until (and if) the groom had successfully returned from his highly dangerous mission. Laing agreed to his terms and, on 14 July 1825, the couple were married.


His mission was now driven by a new, even more manic impetus – frustrated desire for his new virgin (as far as we know) bride Emma. “I shall do more than has ever been done before,” he wrote, “and shall show myself to be what I have ever considered myself, a man of enterprise and genius.”


Four days after his wedding, Laing set off into the Sahara on his death-or-glory mission with a few camels and a handful of assistants, including a black servant called Jack, two African ship’s carpenters (Laing assumed they would come in handy when they reached the Niger) and a couple of camel drivers. Later, they teamed up with a guide called Babani who promised to get them to Timbuktu in ten weeks provided they paid him 4,000 Spanish dollars. Lord Bathurst was horrified when he received the bill, which, at a stroke, had increased the cost of the expedition four-fold.


Laing kept a journal over the coming months, or at least he claimed he did, because as none of the contents were ever divulged, we will never know for sure. More or less everything we know about his expedition is based on a series of letters Laing wrote back to Tripoli. Unfortunately, these revealed much more about his gradually unravelling mental state than they do about the African countryside. Amid the odd poem about himself and the occasional sketch, they were mostly highly emotional, paranoid and disparaging rants about the efforts of rival African explorers, especially Hugh Clapperton, whom Laing clearly despised, although the two men had never actually met.


The Colonial Office, having decided that the discovery of Timbuktu was important enough to risk the lives of one expedition, had now decided that it was worth risking the lives of two. Just before leaving Tripoli, Laing received the unwelcome news that Clapperton had set sail from England with ambitions to reach Timbuktu. To make up lost time, he planned to approach with a shorter, more sensible route from the west African coast. Clapperton, who considered himself with some justification to be the most experienced African explorer of the day, was equally offended to hear that the unknown Laing had been engaged to reach Timbuktu.


Unaware of the resentment they were creating in both camps, the Colonial Office appraised each of the other’s progress and, in the spirit of co-operation, asked them to share notes. Clapperton reluctantly went along with the request, possibly just to needle Laing. It did the trick. When Warrington forwarded some advice from his rival, Laing was livid. There were some random and patronizing tips, such as “adopt native costume at all times” and “do not meddle with the females of the country”. Laing replied, “I care little for any information that Clapperton could communicate . . . I smile at the idea of his reaching Timbuktu before me.”


On the subject of clothing, he revealed that, unlike Clapperton, he had adopted “plain Turkish dress” – except on Sundays when he wore his full military uniform. In all his letters to Warrington, Laing’s hatred for Clapperton was never very far from the surface; he was now locked in a bitter personal competition. From now on, getting to Timbuktu first at any cost was more than just a prize for the young Scot: it had become a dangerous obsession.


Laing regularly wrote back to Tripoli begging his father-in-law to send him a miniature portrait of Emma. Without it, he told Warrington a trifle belatedly, “I might go mad”. When the miniature finally arrived, Laing was shocked to find that the portrait was not flattering to his beloved; Emma appeared suspiciously pale and wan-looking. Was it just a poor portrait? Or was Emma seriously ill? Half out of his mind with worry, he decided to throw in the towel and dashed off another letter to Warrington informing him that he was returning to Tripoli immediately. Warrington, fearful for his son-in-law’s sanity and even more fearful of his early return, tried to reassure him that all was well with Emma and that Laing should press on to Timbuktu.


In the end, Laing was persuaded to continue, not because of any reassurances from Warrington, but by the appearance of a large comet in the sky. “I regard it as a happy omen,” he wrote. “It beckons me on and binds me to the termination of the Niger and to Timbuktu.” Laing was also cheered by news that the mission of his arch-rival Clapperton might be close to failure.


Laing and his small band of followers moved steadily south, braving midday temperatures of 49ºC, suffering “privations and exposure to a degree of heat which I am inclined to believe few Europeans’ constitutions could stand”. He also mentioned in passing that at one stage he had gone without food for a whole week.


Five months after leaving Tripoli, they reached the oasis town of Salah in present-day Algeria. From there, it was a straight run to Timbuktu across a desert “as flat as a bowling green”. The route, however, was notoriously dangerous. The area was ruled by violent, predatory Tuareg tribesmen who demanded payment from travellers to secure a safe passage. Only a madman, local Arab traders told Laing, would try travel to Timbuktu without paying off the Tuaregs; better still, they advised, don’t try to cross the desert at all. Laing ignored them; he knew better and didn’t care much for taking advice from foreigners.2 He had also overlooked the fact the only other Scot to have passed that way, Mungo Park, had an unfortunate reputation for shooting any African he thought looked even slightly menacing, so the presence of one more Scot in the Sahara might not be very welcome. As for this business of bribing the Tuaregs, Laing would hear none of it.


In January 1826, he and his travelling companions set off for Timbuktu. Several days later, they were savagely attacked by Tuaregs who stole all of their possessions and left the expedition leader for dead. Apart from Laing, all that remained was a wounded camel driver and a couple of camels. The two men resumed their journey with Laing strapped to the back of one camel while the injured driver led the way on the other.


We can get an idea of the full horror of what he was going through from a letter he sent to his father-in-law. Writing with great difficulty with the thumb and middle finger of his left hand, Laing recorded his injuries:


To begin from the top, I have five sabre cuts on the crown of the head and three on the left temple, all fractures from which much bone has come away; one on my left cheek which fractured the jaw bone and had divided the ear, forming a very unsightly wound; one over the right temple and a dreadful gash on the back of the neck, which slightly grazed the windpipe; a musket ball in the hip, which made its way though my back, slightly grazing the backbone; five sabre cuts on my right arm and hand, three of the fingers broken, the hand cut three-fourths across, and the wrist bones cut through; three cuts on the left arm, the bone of which has been broken but is again uniting; one slight wound on the right leg and two with one dreadful gash on the left, to say nothing of a cut across the fingers of my left hand, now healed up.


Almost as an afterthought at the end of the letter, Laing mentions that he had caught the plague and was so ill “that it was presumed, expected and hoped that I would die”.


Having travelled hundreds of miles of unmapped, hostile desert, with horrific multiple injuries, Laing reached his goal and entered the fabled city of Timbuktu on 13 August 1826. The journey across the Sahara, which Laing had estimated would take a few weeks at most, had in fact taken thirteen months.


His triumphant entry into Timbuktu must have been a disappointment, to put it mildly. Even from a distance it was quite obvious, even to someone as delusional as Laing, that this was not the shining metropolis abounding in wealth and architectural wonders that he and all Europe had imagined. Timbuktu had seen better days, but not since the time of William Shakespeare. Once a bustling centre of commerce and culture, centuries of warfare and decay had reduced it to a dusty relic of its previous self, a bleak, run-down frontier town made of mud brick.


He searched everywhere for the glittering palaces and nubile lovelies he had heard of, but found only stinking hovels full of unwashed people and sick animals. Weirdly, Laing wrote home that “the great capital of central Africa . . . has completely met my expectations”. Perhaps he was trying to drum up interest for the publication of his journal; or, just as likely, he was by now completely unhinged.


If reports are to be believed, his behaviour over the next five weeks was extremely odd. He rented a small mud hut on the edge of town, from which he occasionally emerged to strut through the streets in full dress uniform, announcing himself to everyone he met as the King of England’s emissary, or by night he rode out on a horse to investigate the surrounding area.3


Laing was planning to stay in Timbuktu for about six months, but it soon became evident that he was not wanted. Word had reached the local Sultan of Bello that a strange interloper was wandering around the town; it’s not surprising, then, that the Sultan wanted him out. So five weeks after his arrival, fearing for his safety, Laing wrote a final letter home announcing that he was leaving Timbuktu “to return to England with much important geographical information”.


The two golden rules of exploration were: (1) discover something worth discovering; and (2) get out alive and find a publisher. Having broken the first rule, Laing was about to break the second.


In his final letter, he recorded his intention to set off southbound towards Sierra Leone. On 22 September 1826, Laing did exactly the opposite and headed north. Three days later, he was set upon and killed by Tuaregs. They throttled him with his own turban, then cut his head off and left him for the vultures. An eye-witness, a servant who survived by feigning death, brought news of the murder to Tripoli in August 1828. Laing was thirty-three.


The missing pieces of Laing’s misadventure were eventually put in place by an incredibly brave Frenchman called René Caillée. In 1828, without any government support or financial backing, Caillée walked unassisted into Timbuktu disguised as a Muslim. Compared to Laing’s experience, Caillée’s journey had been relatively dull, apart from several weeks of illness and a bad fall from a camel. He encountered danger just once when he was forced to hide from the Tuareg under a pile of carpets.


Caillée was able to confirm the few facts about Timbuktu reported back to Tripoli by Laing, visited the mud hut where he had lived, was shown a compass said to have belonged to him, and discovered that Laing’s body was buried under a tree to the north of the town. There was, however, no sign of the much-vaunted journal.


Unlike Laing, Caillée lived to tell his tale and returned home to a hero’s welcome, publishing the story of his epic trip to Timbuktu two years later. Predictably, the French took great satisfaction in rubbing Britain’s nose in it, declaring Caillée the first European to reach Timbuktu – “that which England has not been able to accomplish with the aid of a whole group of travellers and at an expense of more than twenty millions (of francs), a Frenchman has done with his scanty personal resources alone and without putting his country to any expense”.


The British Colonial Office retaliated by claiming that Caillée’s trip was a hoax and that he had fabricated the whole story from Laing’s journal, which had somehow found its way into French hands. In fact, it is just possible that the journal never existed in the first place and had all been a figment of Laing’s imagination.


The news of her husband’s grisly demise broke Emma Laing’s heart and destroyed her health. She remarried and went to live in Italy but appears to have lived out the rest of her brief life in a state of bottomless depression. Just over four years to the day after kissing him goodbye and watching him ride off into the African desert, she died of tuberculosis in October 1829, aged twenty-eight.



Shortest Space Programme


The first manned rocket flight was attempted in AD 1500 by a Chinese government official called Wan Hu. He built a wheelchair and attached to the base forty-seven rockets filled with a combustible mixture of charcoal, saltpetre and sulphur. Seated in his wicker chair, grasping a large kite in each hand to keep him airborne, he braced himself and signalled to his assistants to ignite the rockets beneath him. The fuses blazed and the gunpowder ignited in a mighty explosion.


Wan Hu’s assistants looked skyward for signs of their master, but in vain. When the billowing clouds of smoke cleared, there was nothing left – no chair, no kites, no Wan Hu. The experiment was presumed a great success. There were, however, no attempts to repeat it.




“Heavier-than-air flying machines are impossible.”


Lord Kelvin, British mathematician and physicist, president of the British Royal Society, 1895






Least Successful Bonding Exercise


Exploration, it almost goes without saying, is dangerous work. If the pack ice, or the gale-force winds, or brain-boiling heat, or starvation didn’t get you, then bandits, or frostbite, or scurvy, or malaria, or dysentery, or some other despicable disease almost certainly could. And yet if you study the historical records, more often than not, the expedition party itself is largely to blame for its own failures. One of the most difficult challenges of expeditionary life was not weathering the elements, it was enduring one’s colleagues.


One of the great obsessions of the Victorian era was the search for the River Niger in Africa. The course of the Niger was presumably known to locals, but it was a complete mystery to the outside world. Where did it go? Speculation was rife. Some thought that it flowed west to Gambia or Senegal; others insisted that the Niger disappeared into a huge swamp called Wangara. There were those who believed it joined the Nile, or that it flowed into the Congo. Another theory had it that it flowed nowhere at all and simply evaporated under the blazing Saharan sun. Dozens of explorers had died trying to find the answer to this, the burning geographic question of the age.


In 1822, Britain had another crack at trying to solve the mystery of the Niger. The task of assembling a team to achieve this fell to Sir John Barrow, second secretary of the British Admiralty. Barrow had the bright idea of using British officers who’d been decommissioned after the defeat of Napoleon. Of course, if you are putting together a team of men that might have to spend months, even years, together, it is really important to get the chemistry right. Two of the three men chosen for the expedition were Scots: Walter Oudney, a naval surgeon from Edinburgh; and the huge, red-bearded, quick-tempered Lieutenant Hugh Clapperton. The third member of their party was an arrogant English army officer called Major Dixon Denham, described by one historian as “the most odious man in the history of exploration”. His rude and aggressive behaviour and sense of superiority made him immediately disliked by the Scots. It was a disastrous mix, resulting in a terrible clash of personalities and the most acrimonious and badly planned expedition in the history of African exploration.


The mission was fatally undermined before they even set off by a misunderstanding over who should actually lead the expedition. The two Scots assumed that Oudney was the leader. Denham thought he was the commanding officer because he outranked them both. To add to the confusion, there was no agreement over where they should even be looking. Oudney and Clapperton were under instructions to find Lake Chad, which had been mentioned in an earlier expedition as a possible outlet, while Denham was ordered to look for the Niger to the south.


There was even a huge row over what they should wear on the expedition. The Scots argued that they should “go native” and wear turbans and robes so they would blend in; the Englishman insisted that in the interests of national pride they should wear full dress uniforms to remind the Africans how important Britain was.


The prolonged argument over where they were going and what they should be wearing meant that they set off months later than planned. Meanwhile, the long enforced stay in an unhealthy border town made them ill with fever before they had even started their journey. Eventually, Denham had his own way over the dress code and, in March 1822, they set off across the blazing Sahara in blue frock coats, white waistcoats, breeches and silk stockings. In the event, their choice of clothing actually saved Denham’s life; at one point, he was captured by marauding tribesmen who stripped him and started squabbling over his clothes. While his captors were arguing over their catch, he was able to slip away, naked, and dodging snakes and scrambling through thickets was able to scramble, muddied and bleeding, back to camp.


Large portions of their expedition are lost to posterity because, according to their published journal, it was “wholly uninteresting, and is therefore omitted”. One of the more illuminating entries in Denham’s journal recorded, “Desert as yesterday, high sandhills”. The most remarkable thing about their journey across the Sahara was that all the way to Lake Chad, despite braving treacherous sandstorms, bouts of malaria, travelling for days without water, while members of their party dropped dead around them – even the flies and camels were dying from exhaustion – the three men never once stopped squabbling. Clapperton and Oudney were goaded by Denham’s habit of constantly giving orders; meanwhile Denham was irritated by Clapperton’s mistreatment of his bearers including regular threats to shoot them.


Relations between the three men hit a new low when Denham accused Clapperton of having sex with his native bearers. Casual sex with natives during expeditions into Africa was not unheard of; Denham himself was not averse to the charms of African ladies and it was even alleged the great David Livingstone fathered a child by an African woman. But these natives were men. Clapperton angrily denied the charge and Oudney backed him up, but from that point onwards even the faintest hope of unity in the camp was abandoned.


As they heartily detested each other, the three men decided that the best way forward was to split into two separate expeditions, Denham going south-east and Clapperton and Oudney going west. Clapperton’s journey took him to Sokoto, where he met the local ruler Sultan Bello. When he asked for directions to the mouth of the Niger, the Sultan was only too happy to oblige. Clapperton couldn’t believe his luck. It was only much later that he learned that the Sultan had deliberately sent him the wrong way because he feared that the British would steal their country from them if they knew the truth about the course of the river.


In January 1824, Oudney died from tuberculosis aggravated by intermittent bouts of fever. Denham and Clapperton, now reunited, stopped arguing just long enough to agree that it was time to go home. This was only a signal, however, to start another row over which route to take. In the end, they decided to return they the way they had come, and so they bickered and squabbled all the way back to London.


Although they had completely failed to achieve what they set out to do, their return to England on 1 June 1825 caused a sensation and was a day of great national rejoicing.4 Bizarrely, one newspaper likened the journey to Marco Polo’s trip to China.


A couple of years later, during another attempt at finding the mouth of the Niger, Clapperton died from a combination of malaria and a fierce bout of dysentery. In 1826, the only surviving member of the original party, Dixon Denham, published his recollection of the expedition. He took credit for everything and left out almost all mention of his travelling companions.



Least Successful Hunting Party


The Frenchman Francis Barrallier was a jack of all trades. He was an officer serving in the British Army in Australia’s New South Wales Corps, an engineer, surveyor and graphic artist. He was also a significant figure in the history of Australian exploration; he made the first sightings of the koala bear, was the first European to describe the use of the native boomerang, and recorded numerous general observations about botany, geology and the Aborigine people, including their method of hunting kangaroo. His own skills as a kangaroo hunter, however, fell short.


In 1802, Barrallier was sent by the governor of New South Wales to use his surveying skills to lead a detachment of soldiers to try to find a way over the Blue Mountains. Harassed by unfriendly Aborigines and desperately short of supplies, Barrallier’s party covered just 130 miles in seven weeks, an average of just one-and-a-half miles a day. Half starved, they stalked kangaroos in vain for several days, before realizing that they might have more success if they first removed their bright red army coats.




“Airplanes are interesting toys but of no military value.”


Marechal Ferdinand Foch, Professor of Strategy, Ecole Supérieure de Guerre, 1904






Least Successful Attempt to Cross Australia


Burke and Wills – in Australian folklore, one name is rarely mentioned without the other. Together, they participated in one of the most miserable failures in the history of exploration.


After 100 years of European settlement, by the mid-nineteenth century the interior of Australia was still a mystery to all but the indigenous Aborigines. The challenge of mapping it had defeated the country’s best explorers;5 fame and fortune awaited the first man who did.


In the 1850s, there was a race to to lay a new Overland Telegraph Line to connect the south coast of the Australian continent via the centre to Darwin in the north. There was fierce competition between colonies because the economic benefits of being at the centre of the Australian telegraph network were huge. In 1860, the Australian Government put up a reward of £2,000 to anyone who succeeded in crossing the continent from south to north, thereby determining a route for the proposed new telegraph line. South Australia and the newly founded state of Victoria each proposed an expedition to try to win the prize. It would be a straight race to the northern coast of Queensland and back, a return journey of about 4,000 miles.


South Australia was ably represented by John McDouall Stuart. He was one of his country’s greatest and most successful explorers having already led four expeditions into some of the most hostile territory in the world without loss of one human life. Victoria, with the prestige of its newly founded colony at stake, decided to go with a group of men who hadn’t spent a day in the outback between them. Their expedition team was put together by a group of armchair experts who called themselves the Exploration Committee of the Royal Society of Victoria. Most of the committee members had never even seen the outback. There were just two members – Ferdinand von Mueller and Wilhelm Blandowski – with any actual experience in exploration, but they were constantly outvoted by the others.


The man they chose by secret ballot to lead the expedition was a forty-year-old Irish career soldier and ex-police officer, Robert O’Hara Burke. He certainly looked the part – a huge, burly man with a wild, bushy beard, a mysterious scar on one cheek and an air of authority. But Burke had no sense of direction, let alone any experience of bushcraft. He regularly got lost on his way home from the pub.


He prepared for his epic journey by lying for hours in a bathtub in his backyard in a pith helmet. Burke was also notoriously wayward in his private life and had racked up a mountain of gambling debts and was prone to terrible rages and impulsive, reckless decision-making.


There was another curious dimension to his leadership – he wasn’t motivated by the prize money. He certainly wasn’t motivated by the fundamental explorer’s trait: curiosity. He simply wanted to impress a young actress named Julia Mathews, a star of the Melbourne stage with whom he had recently become infatuated.


Burke’s second-in-command, George Landells, was hired because of his expertise with camels, several of which he had personally imported from India. The committee thought that camels were the ideal beasts of burden for the arid expanses of the Australian hinterland. Landells was accompanied by a young soldier from India, John King, as chief camel-tender, plus four Indian sepoys. Their third-in-command was a young surveyor from Devon – William John Wills. In total, the nineteen-man expedition comprised six Irishmen, five Englishmen, four Indians, three Germans and an American, plus twenty-three horses, six wagons and twenty-six camels.


On 20 August 1860, a crowd of 15,000 turned out in Melbourne’s Royal Park to wave them off. Burke promised, “I will cross Australia or perish in the attempt,” then wearing his top hat, he mounted his horse Billy and, to the applause of the crowd and the sound of the band playing “Cheer, Boys, Cheer”, he set off at the head of a 500-yard-long cavalcade of men and camels carrying twenty tons of supplies and equipment, including a cedar-topped dining table and two chairs, a Chinese gong, twelve dandruff brushes for camels, four enema kits and sixty gallons of rum.


From the outset, progress was painfully slow. The expedition was half a kilometre long and buckling under its own weight, partly due to the committee’s insistence on hauling several wagonloads of dried beef instead of travelling with livestock to slaughter along the way. One of the wagons broke before it even left Royal Park. Torrential rain also made their equipment sodden and heavy, but Burke chose to make the journey even more difficult by ignoring the established tracks and travelling cross-country. Meanwhile, Landell’s camels got drunk on the rum, given to them in the mistaken belief that it would prevent the animals from getting scurvy.


While Burke rode imperiously at the head of the column, his disgruntled men were left to drag intoxicated camels through slippery mud, or dig out the horses and wagons when they became stuck in sand. They were also less than impressed when, at the end of the first day of travelling, Burke galloped all the way back to Julia Matthews in Melbourne and begged her to marry him. He never did get an answer.


By the time the expedition reached Menindie, the last white settlement on the edge of the Australian desert, the expedition had already taken 56 days to cover 466 miles – the mail coach did the same journey in ten days. To speed things up, Burke decided to lighten the load by dumping some of the supplies, including the lime juice, which they needed to prevent scurvy, and the guns and ammunition. The scientists in the group, to their great annoyance, were ordered to dump most of their equipment and to pitch in and do the same manual work as everyone else.


All the while, Burke was stamping the expedition with his own peculiar style of leadership, sacking and demoting people right, left and centre. Landells had decided by this time that Burke was mad and told him as much. Burke challenged him to a duel. Landells refused and quit, leaving the surveyor, William Wills, as deputy leader. The camel handling went to the small, shy John King. One by one, the men, despairing of Burke’s chaotic leadership, deserted and went back to Melbourne. By this time, only two of Burke’s original officers remained; fifteen men had been dismissed and another eight hired.


The party was only making about two miles a day, so Burke decided to speed up their progress by splitting the group. One party was sent back to pick up more supplies. Meanwhile, Burke took the strongest horses and seven of the fittest men plus a small amount of equipment, intending to push on quickly to a series of waterholes known as Cooper’s Creek, about halfway to the north coast, and then wait for the others to catch up.


In November 1860, Burke and his party reached Cooper’s Creek, beyond which no European had ever been before. The most difficult part of their journey lay ahead and they were approaching mid-summer. The sensible thing to do would be to wait for cooler weather, but Burke was impatient to press on. He decided to split the group again and make a dash for the coast. Half the group were told to stay put at Cooper’s Creek for three months and wait for the supplies to arrive. On 16 December, Burke, Wills, King and Charles Gray set off for the north coast with six camels, one horse and enough food for just three months.


Burke had fatally underestimated how long the dash to the north coast and back would take. He was counting on covering the 1,900-mile journey in ninety days, but the four men would be walking up to forty miles a day at the height of the Australian summer in temperatures of 50ºC. There was another unexpected obstacle – a mountain range. Rather than go around it, Burke decided to take the shortest route straight over the top, forcing the terrified animals to climb up steep slopes and skirt sheer ravines while their feet were badly ripped by the rocks. By the time they made it through, the camels were in a pitiful state.


They were now halfway through their ninety-day journey time, but were still 125 miles away from the north coast. It was clear that if they continued they would not have enough food or water get them back to Cooper’s Creek. For Burke, the choice between saving his men’s lives and winning the love of Miss Matthews was straightforward – he pressed on. Leaving King, Gray and the injured camels near a creek, Burke and Wills made a final push for the coast. After two months travelling with barely a rest day, they found themselves bogged down in a massive mangrove swamp. Unable to hack their way through the dense undergrowth, they gave up, exhausted, and decided to head back to their colleagues. They were only twelve miles from the coast.


Emaciated, starving and too weak to catch anything to eat, Burke, King, Gray and Wills stumbled back towards Cooper’s Creek. They had used up nearly three-quarters of their rations, so each man’s share of food and tea was halved. One by one, their beasts of burden, including Burke’s horse Billy, were shot and eaten. Gray, who was suffering from dysentery and actually dying of starvation, was caught pilfering an extra ration of porridge. Burke thought Gray was faking illness and gave him a beating. After that, Gray could no longer walk and had to be strapped to a camel. Burke still thought that he was acting. Nine days later, Gray was dead.


On 21 April 1861, Burke, Wills and King staggered into Cooper’s Creek camp, expecting to find the support team waiting for them with fresh supplies. It was deserted. The word “DIG” had been carved on a coolibah tree. Underneath the tree, they unearthed a food box with a note that confirmed their worst fears; the support team had left only a few hours earlier, giving them up for dead. Wills wrote in his diary: “Our disappointment at finding the depot deserted may easily be imagined – returning in an exhausted state after four months of the severest travelling and privation, with our legs so paralyzed so that each found it a most trying task to walk just a few yards.”


After just a couple of days’ rest, Burke made another rash decision. Instead of waiting for the other party to reach the water hole, they would head off south – not back to Minnie by the way they came, but they would go through uncharted desert.


Critically, Burke didn’t leave any sign that he and his party had reached the waterhole. As a result, when the original support team finally arrived some days later, ubable to find any evidence that Burke had been there, they went home.


Meanwhile, Burke, Wills and King lay dying only a few miles away, further down Cooper’s Creek. They had a stroke of luck when some Aborigines found them and took pity, offering food and water, but when they asked for something in return for their hospitality, Burke fired his gun at them. The Aborigines left them to their fate.


Wills was the first to die, then Burke; King would have died as well had the Aborigines not returned and offered help. King was eventually found by a relief expedition on 15 September 1861. When he was sufficiently recovered, he led his rescuers to Burke’s bleached bones, his hand still clutching his pistol.


Seven men had died in the attempt to cross the continent of Australia from Melbourne to the north coast and only one of the four men who failed to reach the north coast, John King, lived to tell the tale. Along the way, they were beset by terrible organization, infighting and disastrous preparation. None of this prevented the Government from proclaiming Burke and Wills national heroes. Their remains were given Australia’s first ever State funeral procession, drawing a crowd of up to 100,000 spectators.


John King received a gold watch and a pension of £180 a year from the Royal Society of Victoria but didn’t live to enjoy it. His health never recovered and he died of pulmonary tuberculosis aged thirty-three.


South Australia won the construction of the Overland Telegraph Line and John McDouall Stuart was eventually awarded the £2,000 for being the first man to cross the continent and live to tell the story. Victoria’s prize for her efforts was just a couple of very famous but very dead explorers.



Least Successful Expedition by Camel


The name of John Ainsworth Horrocks could have been written large as one of Australia’s greatest frontiersmen had his career not been cut tragically short. In 1846, he set out to conquer the hitherto impenetrable hinterland of South Australia with several goats, a bull called Harry and an unnamed camel imported from Tenerife. The addition of the camel to the party was seen as a logistical masterstroke because previous trans-Australian expeditions, equipped with horses and bullocks, had all perished in the fierce heat. The decision turned out to be less of a coup than anticipated when, not long into the journey, the camel attacked their cook, biting a large chunk out of his head, then chewed all of the expedition’s flour bags, wasting most of the supplies.


A couple of days later, the recalcitrant camel struck again, lurching into Horrocks just as he was loading his gun, causing him to shoot himself accidentally in the lower jaw, knocking out half of his teeth. Horrocks died in agony from his injuries several days later, the first explorer to be shot dead by his own camel.




“Where a calculator on the ENIAC is equipped with 18,000 vacuum tubes and weighs 30 tons, computers in the future may have only 1,000 vacuum tubes and weigh only 1.5 tons.”


Popular Mechanics, March 1949






Most People Lost While Searching for a Lost Expedition


Ever since Columbus, explorers have been losing their lives and suffering the agonies of frostbite, scurvy and starvation in search of the Northwest Passage, a shortcut to China and the Indies that was thought to exist somewhere through the ice floes of northern Canada, thereby avoiding the long and treacherous voyage around the Horn of Africa.


As an exercise in futility, it was hard to beat; one long chapter of failure, disaster and tragedy as ships disappeared and explorers failed to return. But there was one name above all forever linked with failed attempts to find the Northwest Passage – that of John Franklin.


Franklin was the ninth of twelve children born to a Lincolnshire shopkeeper. His family had some famous connections – his uncle was the explorer Matthew Flinders, and one of his nieces was married to the poet Alfred Lord Tennyson. His first taste of exploration was on board the ship Investigator captained by his uncle Matthew, tasked with a survey of the still largely uncharted coast of Australia. The mission was never completed due to bad planning, scurvy among the crew and the general unseaworthiness of the ship. Franklin found himself shipwrecked on a sandbank for six weeks until he was rescued: a portent for the rest of his career as an explorer.


Franklin was a surprise choice when the British Admiralty asked him to lead an overland surveying party to the Arctic in 1819. He had never taken part in – let alone led – an overland polar expedition before and knew nothing about canoeing or hunting. He was an overweight, unhealthy-looking thirty-three-year-old who suffered from circulation problems in his fingers and toes, even in warm weather. Not exactly most people’s idea of the hardy Arctic explorer. But he had impressed the Admiralty with his “dignified and impressive good sense, sound judgement and presence of mind”. Presumably, someone also thought that his experience in Australia would come in useful for a trip to the frozen north.


Franklin’s first trip to the Arctic set a new benchmark for failed polar exploration. He took insufficient supplies and his men knew nothing about survival techniques. His colleagues found that he was incapable of doing anything without first having a cup of tea and always insisted on sitting down to three square meals a day and even then could never travel overland more than eight miles a day without being carried. He was a very religious man who took with him everywhere a twelve-point checklist entitled “Have I this day walked with God?” He refused to walk anywhere at all on Sundays.


Franklin and his party got completely lost and somehow managed to set fire to his camp three times. As supplies ran low and the crew were weakened by cold and exhaustion, unrest turned to rebellion. Two of his officers fought a duel over a sixteen-year-old Indian girl. Faced with starvation, one of his crew – Midshipman Robert Hood – resorted to cannibalism. He had eaten two of the team and was just preparing a third for the table, with a bullet through the forehead, when he was shot dead by an Indian guide. For his troubles, the guide was executed by Franklin’s second-in-command, Dr John Richardson. Franklin, one of the few who made it back, survived by eating lichen, rotting reindeer skins and shoe leather.


The British valued courage rather than talent from their explorers. Despite the fact that eleven out of twenty-three men had died, and having travelled 5,500 miles and only managing to map a tiny portion of coastline that everyone knew existed anyway, Franklin returned to a hero’s welcome and earned an unlikely reputation for toughness as “the man who ate his boots”.


In 1925, Britain’s new hero set off on a second expedition to find the Northwest Passage, this time abandoning his terminally ill wife Eleanor; she died while he was away. Franklin’s second expedition was considerably more successful than the first and, although he was forced to turn back by terrible weather conditions and failed in his mission, at least this time no one was eaten.


After this, Franklin took a break from Arctic exploration, married one of his late wife’s best friends, received a knighthood, then was posted to Tasmania to serve as lieutenant-governor. His stay in office was controversial and he was recalled when word reached London that most of the decision-making was actually being made by his new wife.


Franklin returned home in 1843 to find that the British Admiralty were launching a fresh attempt to find the Northwest Passage and immediately volunteered his services. His offer was taken up only very reluctantly by British Naval Command; he was settled on as sixth choice after others declined or were rejected as too inexperienced. Franklin received his orders on 5 May 1845, by which time he was pushing sixty and had not taken a ship into the ice for twenty-seven years.


This time, Franklin was equipped with the latest technology – his two ships Erebus and Terror had steam engines that could make four knots and the ships’ bows were reinforced with iron planks to help them break through ice. The cabins were heated by hot water piped through the floor and there were enough provisions to last for five years, including large quantities of china, cut glass and silverware and a library stocked with more than 1,000 books.


Another novel addition to the expedition was canned food, a recent invention. Unfortunately, the tins were not properly sealed, allowing lead to leach into the food. Lead poisoning was thought to be a contributing factor in the deaths of some of the team.6


On 19 May 1845, Franklin set sail from London promising once again to deliver on the centuries-long search for the Northwest Passage. The ships stopped for supplies in Disko Bay, Greenland, in early July. They were last spotted by a couple of whalers on 28 July. Some time after that, the whole expedition vanished into the pack ice of Lancaster Sound and not one man was seen alive again.


After two years without word from her husband, Lady Franklin pleaded with the Admiralty to send a rescue party. Given that the original expedition was provisioned for five years, the British Government was reluctant to launch a search mission, but they had not bargained for the indomitable Lady Franklin, who put up a prolonged public campaign for a search to continue until her husband was found, meanwhile winning extraordinary sympathy as the loyal, grieving wife of the missing hero. There was even a popular song of the time, “Lord Franklin”, to keep the search in the public consciousness.


The government eventually gave way and offered a reward of £10,000 to anyone who could discover the fate of Franklin and his party. This prompted a mad scramble of ships heading northward. Interest in Franklin’s fate wasn’t only limited to Britain, as the United States also mounted several expeditions, most notably led by Elisha Kent Kane and Charles Francis Hall. A dozen ships were sent out to find Franklin in 1850 alone.


One of the 1850 expeditions found three graves on Beechey Island, dated January and April 1846, and the remnants of a winter camp, including some tattered clothing and a few tins of meat, giving hope that Franklin’s party had travelled further west or perhaps north into the Polar Sea and was still largely intact.


By 1854, nine years had passed since Franklin and his crew had set sail and common sense decreed that all 129 of them were surely dead, but yet another expedition went looking for Franklin, led by the explorer John Rae. When he returned home on 29 July, he had some grisly news to report: “During my journey over ice and snow this spring . . . I met with Esquimaux in Pelly Bay, from one of whom I learned that a party of ‘white men’ (kabloonas) had perished from want of food some distance to the westward . . . From the mutilated state of many of the corpses, and the contents of the kettles, it is evident that our wretched countrymen had been driven to the last resource – cannibalism – as a means of prolonging existence.”


Rae’s sensational report, published in The Times, caused a furore in Britain. The suggestion that British explorers had resorted to eating each other in their final days was simply too shocking to be believed (we can only assume that they had very short memories when it came to Franklin’s first expedition). Charles Dickens, editor of Household Words, asserted, without a shred of supporting evidence, that the dying party had obviously been eaten by the local Inuit. Lady Franklin, meanwhile, was simply furious with Rae for turning back without finding her husband, especially when she found out that Rae had pocketed the £10,000 reward.


In 1857, Lady Franklin sought the advice of a couple of mystics, whose “visions” inspired her to launch yet another search party, this time funded partly by the sale of her jewels and partly by public subscription, despite the fact that the Government had officially pronounced her husband dead three years earlier.


In 1859, Francis McClintock succeeded in reaching King William Island and found the skeleton of a sailor with two letters in his pocket, the only surviving records of what happened to the expedition. The first letter – dated 28 May 1847 – reported that the Franklin expedition had become trapped in ice on 12 September 1846, but on a more cheery note concluded with the words “all well”. The second letter – dated 28 April 1848 – confirmed, however, that things had taken a turn for the worse: Franklin had died on board ship on 11 June 1847 while icebound off King William Island. His crews had abandoned their vessels in a futile attempt to trek south to safety.


Over the next four decades, approximately twenty-five more searches helped uncover bits of the story but questions remained unanswered. Why did so many men die in a place where previous expeditions had survived and where Inuit populations would trade goods for supplies? Why didn’t they exchange their supplies for food and shelter from the Inuit? The most likely explanation is that a combination of lead poisoning, cold, starvation and disease – including scurvy, pneumonia and tuberculosis – killed the entire expedition. It is likely that the men waited for their colleagues to die before eating them.


Despite the fact that his 1845 expedition had resulted in an impressive 100 per cent fatality rate, the Victorian media portrayed Franklin as a great national hero, thanks largely to Lady Franklin and her many powerful contacts in the government of the day and because the British public preferred the myth that she represented to the horrible reality of cannibalism and failure.


Franklin was rewarded with a memorial in Westminster Abbey which credits him with “The Discovery of the North West Passage”. In fact, it was the men who went looking for Franklin who discovered more about the Northwest Passage than Franklin ever did and it was the great Arctic explorer Roald Amundsen who finally proved the uselessness of the Northwest Passage as a major trade route because it is blocked by ice for most of the year.


In all, over forty search missions were launched in the search for Franklin and more men and ships were lost looking for him than on the original expedition itself. It remains to this day the greatest disaster in the annals of exploration.



Least Successful Transatlantic Crossing by Aeroplane


In the mid-1920s, a New York hotel owner Raymond Orteig offered a prize of $25,000 to the first person to fly non-stop from New York to Paris.


René Fonck, a French aviator and First World War ace,7 was confident that the prize was his. He persuaded aviation pioneer Igor Sikorksy to build him a new $105,000 S-35 triple-engine aeroplane, at the time the most advanced and most expensive aircraft in the world.


For his epic flight, Fonck didn’t stint on expense. He asked an interior designer to decorate the inside of the plane with panels of Spanish leather and mahogany walls so that it resembled “a beautifully furnished dining room”. With the extra fuel required to cross the Atlantic, the plane was already carrying 4,000 lbs over its maximum weight, but Fonck brushed aside Sikorsky’s warnings that the plane should be thoroughly stress-tested. To make matters even worse, the plane was loaded with various gifts from well-wishers, including a bouquet of flowers for the French President’s wife and a four-course celebration dinner for six people.


The plane never got off the ground. The landing gear collapsed during take-off and the plane plunged down the runway into a gully where it burst into flames, killing two of the three crew members.


Fonck vowed to try again, but the following spring, on 20 May 1927, twenty-five-year-old Charles Lindbergh flew solo from New York to Paris in a stripped-down, lightweight single-engine plane and won fame and fortune. As for the Frenchman, no one gave much of a Fonck.




“I have travelled the length and breadth of this country and talked with the best people, and I can assure you that data processing is a fad that won’t last out the year.”


Editor in charge of business books for publisher Prentice Hall, 1957






Worst Attempt to Found a Colonial Empire


In the late seventeenth century, everyone who was anyone was busily colonizing the world. France owned most of northern America, from Canada down to the Gulf of Mexico; New Spain was governed by a viceroy in central America; England was busily building an empire that would become the envy of the world. There was one country, however, missing out on the trade game – Scotland.


It was a desperately unhappy time for the Scots. Years of famine had driven people from their homesteads and choked the cities with homeless vagrants. The country’s home-grown industries were dying. Scotland had lost the few overseas colonies that it had, such as Nova Scotia in Canada, and was desperate for new overseas trading partners. A Scot called William Paterson thought he had the answer to his country’s problems.


Paterson was a financier and hustler born in Tynwald, Dumfriesshire, in 1658. As a young man, he moved to England and, in 1694, became one of the founding directors of the Bank of England, but he quit his job after a year over a row with his fellow bankers and began organizing a rival bank. When this fell through a year later, he started on an even grander plan. In London, he met a ship’s surgeon called Lionel Wafer, who had told him about a wonderful paradise called Darien on the Isthmus of Panama, a thin strip of land between north and south America. It had a sheltered bay, rich, fertile land and a huge forest of hardwood trees.


Paterson immediately saw the potential of Darien as a location for a trading colony. Trade with the lucrative Pacific markets was a hugely expensive business because ships had to make the hazardous trip round Cape Horn on the southern tip of South America. If a Scottish trading post could be established at Darien, goods could be ferried from the Pacific across Panama and loaded on to ships in the Atlantic from there, speeding up Pacific trade and making it much more reliable.


In 1698, Paterson set about selling his dream of building a “New Caledonia” to the Scottish Government. He was a very persuasive salesman. Darien, Paterson promised, would be Scotland’s “door of the seas and the key of the universe . . . trade will increase trade and money will beget money”. To the Scots, who had watched with envy as their more prosperous neighbour to the south piled up wealth and status from overseas acquisitions, this was very beguiling talk.


On 26 February 1696, the Company of Scotland was set up in Edinburgh to raise capital for Paterson’s ambitious venture. The project hit problems from the start when the English Government, who saw it as a threat to the monopoly held by their own East India Company, warned potential English, Dutch and German investors to back off. This left no source of finance but from within Scotland itself. The Scots however were only too eager to invest and they flocked in their thousands, rich and poor, to subscribe to Paterson’s plan. It was a massive financial gamble and many were investing their life savings, but within six months £400,000 had been raised to fit out five ships for the expedition.


The next problem was acquiring the ships and, again, the English were unhelpful. The King’s Government forbade their shipyards to take commissions from Scottish customers, so the Scots were forced to look abroad to Sweden and Holland. On 4 July 1698, five ships – the Caledonia, the Unicorn, the Saint Andrew, the Dolphin and the Endeavour – set sail from Leith harbour from the east to avoid detection by British warships, under the command of Captain Robert Pennycook. Of the 1,200 hopeful Scottish colonists, only Pennycook and William Paterson knew their destination, which was outlined in sealed packages to be opened only once the ships were on the open sea. No one, not even Paterson, had ever actually been to Darien to see it for themselves.


Lionel Wafer, who had been promised a huge reward for his information about Darien but had yet to receive a single penny was hugely put out when he found that he wasn’t even being offered a place on the expedition. A couple of years later, when he read about the fate of the Scottish settlers, he was very thankful that he hadn’t gone with them.


After an arduous and stormy voyage, with many passengers falling ill and dying on the way, the ships made landfall off the coast of Darien on 2 November 1698. Having been fed on stories of long-haired Indians living a life of luxury in a land of milk and honey, the settlers were hopelessly unprepared for the shock which lay ahead. Wafer had neglected to mention that the area was one of the most inhospitable places on the planet, a disease-ridden swathe of impenetrable tropical jungle, swamp and mosquitos.


The new colony was also beset from the start by terrible organization. First they constructed a fort in a place with no fresh water supply; then they tried to grow crops of maize and yams, although none of them knew how. As well as boxes of wigs, heavy Scottish serge cloth and other useless items that the colonists expected to use in their new life, they took with them thousands of combs and mirrors, which they expected to sell to the Indians. But the local Cuna Indians didn’t have any money or much in the way of valuables to trade for the Scottish wares. Not that the naked Indians had much use for heavy serge in the heat of the tropics, even if they could afford it. The settlers weren’t even able to sell anything to any passing traders, which had been the whole point of the exercise. They had no idea how to store food in the heat and humidity of Panama and most of their provisions spoiled. Discipline began to break down among the settlers and thefts and drunkenness were routine. The following spring brought torrential rain and, with it, rampant disease, then slow starvation.


Within a year, all but 300 of the settlers were dead. A sick and broken Paterson returned to Scotland in 1699 to try to stop a second expedition leaving, but by this time it was too late and several more ships and several thousand more settlers had already left for Darien. This time they brought with them a cargo of little blue Scots’ bonnets. Unsurprisingly, they couldn’t find a market in the jungle for these either. It didn’t help matters when three Scottish ministers accompanying the original expedition went mad in the tropical heat and began wandering around the jungle wailing, “We’re all doomed!”


There was one other detail Wafer had overlooked. Spain was under the impression that Darien already belonged to them. The settlers faced the constant threat of attack from the Spanish on whose land they were squatting. They couldn’t even ask any of the English colonies in the area for help because the English Government had forbidden them to aid the Scots. New Caledonia truly was doomed.


In 1700, Spanish troops surrounded the colony and called on the Scots to surrender. They were allowed to leave with their guns and the colony was abandoned for the last time. Of the sixteen ships that had left for Panama, only one returned to Scotland with just a handful of survivors to face a resentful nation of investors who wanted their money back.


For William Paterson, it was a personal disaster. He had lost his fortune and his wife and his child on the trip and barely escaped with his own life, and the consequences for his country were immense. At least a quarter of Scotland’s national wealth had been blown on the project; some estimates put it much higher. The great colonial adventure, instead of making Scotland a major player on the world stage, had ruined their economy and placed it totally at the mercy of its richer neighbour.


England had been trying to push Scotland into a Union for several years and the Scottish Government had always resisted, but this time the English Government was offering compensation to everyone who had lost money on Paterson’s scheme as a bribe to accept an Act of Union. Faced with total financial collapse, Scotland had no choice but to accept. In 1707, she joined with England as the junior partner in the United Kingdom of Great Britain. As Robert Burns put it, Scotland had been “bought and sold for English gold”.



Least Successful Arctic Rescue Mission


The American Charles Francis Hall was a veteran of Arctic exploration, having cut his teeth on two failed rescue missions in search of John Franklin’s missing 1845 expedition. So when Hall set out for the Arctic again in June 1871, he knew that he might die on the expedition from exposure, scurvy, starvation or all three. He probably wasn’t expecting it would be from arsenic poisoning.


Hall was a blacksmith and engraver by trade, earning a living in Cincinnati, Ohio, making seals and metal printing plates. Through his interest in the printing industry, he began a second career as a newspaper proprietor, publishing the Cincinnati News. Hall’s third career as an Arctic explorer had curious origins: around 1857, he read a newspaper report about Sir John Franklin’s lost expedition to find the Northwest Passage. For reasons not entirely clear, the fate of the missing English explorer became Hall’s obsession. In 1960, he sold his newspaper, abandoned his pregnant wife and daughter and went looking for the lost expedition himself, despite the fact that he had had no training in cold weather survival, sailing, navigation, hunting, or any other skills that might come in useful as an Arctic explorer. Hall simply believed that God had chosen him to succeed where experienced explorers had failed. And all this despite the fact that it had been fairly well established for at least seven years that Franklin and his crew were all long dead.


Predictably, Hall’s first shoestring expedition didn’t get far before he was frozen in, but he was rescued by some Inuit who told him about some relics which he interpreted as proof that some members of Franklin’s expedition might still be alive.


In 1864, Hall tried again. He got as far as King William Island where he found remains and artefacts from the Franklin expedition, but no clues as to their fate. During this expedition, Hall, who had a hair-trigger temper and was often on the verge of violence, shot dead one of his crew, a young man called Patrick Coleman. Hall claimed that it was an act of self-defence and he was quelling a mutiny, but it seems more likely that he and Coleman had simply quarrelled and Hall had snapped. When he returned home, he had some questions to answer, but the shooting had taken place beyond the borders of Canada, so neither the British nor Canadian authorities would have anything to do with it and the American authorities ignored the matter completely. Hall had killed Patrick Coleman in a legal no-man’s land and got away scot-free.
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